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To Arthur E. and Judith Goldman

and

to my three best girls,

Pam, Alex, and Jo


“Who’s a busy man? Me? I’m chairman of the board. I have nothing but time.”

—Mr. Bernstein, Citizen Kane



PROLOGUE


THE ADVERTISING AGENCY on the third floor of No. 60 Kingly Street in London’s trendy Soho district was a sham. Behind the reception desk sat two pretty young women hired for just one day; newspapers were carefully set out on a handsome wooden desk; opulent flower arrangements were scattered throughout. There were two huge models in the hallway; one of a British Airways Concorde, the other of a Qantas 747. And, to complete the effect, expensive artwork from the collection of noted London art collector Charles Saatchi lined the office walls. But five minutes after a small delegation from British Airways completed a two-hour meeting there on April 25, 1995, the stage was struck.

The ad agency’s actual headquarters was less than one mile away in a tiny nondescript office in a brownstone at 35 Davies Street, just off quiet, elegant Berkeley Square. The puckish sign on the buzzer read “Dress Rehearsal Ltd.” The leader of this budding ad agency wouldn’t allow any outsiders to his modest headquarters, especially old friends who were also executives of British Airways. The airline’s ad account, valued at £60 million, had been up for grabs among advertising agencies since January, and this new shop wanted to snare British Airways for its own.

Orchestrating this vast charade at No. 60 Kingly Street was Maurice Saatchi, the forty-eight-year-old mercurial advertising wizard who four months earlier had been tossed out as chairman of Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC, the giant advertising holding company he founded with his brother Charles in 1970. After a tense eight-and-a-half-hour board meeting on December 16, 1994, a member of the Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC board marched into Maurice Saatchi’s office and offered him a largely ceremonial position as chairman of Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising Worldwide. Saatchi, a proud man for whom appearances were everything, was humiliated by his dismissal; indeed, one friend who spoke to him the night of his ouster said he thought he could hear Saatchi weeping into his car phone, though Saatchi himself said he did not cry. Regardless, he was understandably extremely upset.

It turned out to be a brief mourning period. The board of Saatchi & Saatchi had foolishly given Maurice Saatchi two weeks to think the offer over; that was far too long. Once he rejected the notion of actually working for someone else, Maurice Saatchi began scheming.

Now Maurice Saatchi had one purpose: to exact revenge on his old company, to ruin it, rob it of its most valued employees, strip it of its cherished clients, and destroy those who set out to destroy him. His disdain, in particular, ran deep for David Herro, a thirty-three-year-old Chicago fund manager who had spearheaded the drive to unseat him. Herro was a solidly built, handsome Midwesterner with a clear sense of family and business values. In Saatchi, Herro saw only what he viewed as corruption and a total disregard for what Herro would describe as “corporate governance.” Saatchi also disliked Charles (Charlie) Scott, the affable and sloppily attired chief executive officer who had saved the company from financial ruin, but kept his head in the sand when it came to confrontations with anyone, especially Maurice Saatchi.

Saatchi’s plan was simple: start a rival ad agency and selectively lure allies from Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC, which owned Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising Worldwide and Bates Worldwide, to his upstart operation, which Charles Saatchi cleverly dubbed The New Saatchi Agency.

In advertising, image is everything. Maurice knew that by establishing his fledgling agency as New Saatchi, he was, in a single stroke, positioning his former company as old and passé. Months later, a marathon peace session to halt endless legal wrangling between the two sides would almost disintegrate over the name of Maurice Saatchi’s new venture. There was much at stake for both sides. Saatchi is one of the most recognizable brand names in advertising, along with J. Walter Thompson; McCann-Erickson; DDB Needham, which is made up in part of the former Doyle Dane Bernbach; and D’Arcy Masius Benton & Bowles—as famous in advertising as some of the brands it represented: Pampers for Procter & Gamble, Wendy’s fast food chain, Schweppes beverages, and, of course, British Airways.

At its height in 1987, Saatchi & Saatchi was the number one ad company in the world; it achieved that status by gobbling up ad agencies and related businesses at alarming speed and at foolish prices. But the plan fit with Maurice and Charles’s motto: “Nothing Is Impossible.” That mission was capped on May 8, 1986, when the brothers audaciously purchased Ted Bates Worldwide, then the third-largest American advertising agency, for $400 million down and another $50 million in 1988. But the acquisition would come to unravel Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC.

Saatchi & Saatchi’s swift ascent to the top of advertising vexed many Madison Avenue executives, even though some were getting obscenely wealthy because of their association with the Saatchis. Advertising was considered a uniquely American profession. And buying some of the venerable names along Madison Avenue were these two odd brothers of Iraqi-Jewish descent—one of whom, Charles, the so-called creative brother, made it a policy never to meet with clients nor, for that matter, with his own employees after the company’s first, say, four years. Maurice, the financial expert, was clearly a snob and spendthrift who boasted of two raspberry-colored Bentleys, a home in Cap Ferrat, and a spectacular country house in Sussex, England, named Old Hall. He lived with his second wife, Josephine Hart, author of the sex-laden novel Damage, later made into a movie starring Jeremy Irons.

The Saatchi brothers, known in London simply as “the Brothers,” embarked on an unprecedented shopping spree with one goal in mind: to be the largest ad agency group in the world. They achieved their extravagant goal in 1986 in part with the purchases of three U.S. agencies: Dancer Fitzgerald Sample (“Where’s the Beef?” for Wendy’s), Backer & Spielvogel (which coined ‘Tastes Great, Less Filling” and launched Miller Lite), and Ted Bates Worldwide (“Melts in your mouth, not in your hand” for Mars’s flagship M&Ms candy).

By 1986, Saatchi & Saatchi had acquired thirty-seven companies, thirteen in 1985 alone. By the time the brothers stopped, they had parlayed a $40,000 investment in 1970 into a giant empire of eighty subsidiaries with billings exceeding $3.2 billion. All told it owned seventeen ad agencies as well as several management consultancies and media buying companies.

But hard times hit Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC in 1989 because of a slowdown in advertising and disappointing performances in its consulting business; its nineteen-year unbroken record for sustained profit growth ended. Then, its pretax earnings fell to £21.8 million ($36.8 million) in the fiscal year ended September 30, from £138 million ($244.4 million) the previous year. Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC fell to the world’s second-largest ad company, behind WPP Group, headed by, of all people, a former Saatchi & Saatchi executive, Martin Sorrell, who had masterminded many of the company’s early acquisitions. Eventually, Interpublic Group of Companies, which owns McCann-Erickson Worldwide, and Omnicom Group, which owns BBDO Worldwide and DDB Needham, would pass Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC as well and exile it to fourth place. In the end, it would slip to fifth place.

Maurice Saatchi, as one senior management consultant would later recall, never lost his obsession to regain Saatchi & Saatchi’s number one position. Maurice, said the consultant, “was obsessed with market dominance. It was his favorite, old, and in many ways his only strategic imperative. And that was size. He was never able to achieve size in any permanent way by growing companies. He got there temporarily by acquiring them.” Maurice Saatchi never outgrew two mantras of the late 1980s: to be number one is wonderful, number two is terrific, number three is threatened, and number four is failure; to be big is good, to be good is better, and to be both is best.

At the time of Maurice’s removal as chairman on December 16, 1994, Saatchi’s clients included Mars, the candy and pet food manufacturer; Procter & Gamble; Mirror Group, which owns the Daily Mirror in the United Kingdom; General Mills, makers of Cheerios; Sara Lee’s Hanes division; Toyota; Avis Rent-a-Car; and Warner-Lambert.

Now, Maurice Saatchi wanted only to win British Airways, thereby launching his nascent agency and, more importantly, crippling “Old Co.,” as he dismissively called Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC, for whom British Airways was a flagship account since it won the business on September 14, 1982. He despised the reality that the world was now occupied with two companies named Saatchi. Maurice Saatchi wanted to rid the planet of Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC and its onerous unit Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising Worldwide. He wanted either to acquire it or to shut it down.

•  •  •

THESE WERE AMONG THE THOUGHTS that occupied Maurice Saatchi’s mind on April 25, 1995, as he strolled into a huge conference room filled with twelve video monitors along one wall as well as two television sets and a horseshoe-shaped desk. Accompanying Saatchi was Tim Duffy, a tall, boyish-looking thirty-one-year-old account director, one of the first to defect from Saatchi & Saatchi and sign on with the new venture. Duffy recalled he was smitten with the ad business almost from the moment in 1987 that he walked into Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising headquarters at 80 Charlotte Street in Fitzrovia, a nondescript London neighborhood. A contagious energy infected the place back then, as if working for Saatchi & Saatchi meant working for the best.

And, for a magic period, it did: Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising created some spectacularly effective ads. In 1978, hired by the Tory party, it produced a poster of a seemingly endless line of unemployed individuals. The caption: “Labour Isn’t Working.” The ad ran at only twenty sites, but the message was startling and pervasive. The Tories won and Margaret Thatcher was propelled to power. Another famous ad, created in the company’s first year of existence, for Britain’s Health Education Council, showed a glum-looking man with a haircut shaped like that worn by the Beatles, his belly bulging. The caption: “Would you be more careful if it was you that got pregnant?” That ad became such a powerful icon that when the agency opened a pub in its headquarters, it was named the Pregnant Man.

Saatchi & Saatchi’s most noteworthy commercials were for British Airways, including one in which the island of Manhattan lifted off into space. It was Saatchi & Saatchi that coined the British Airways slogan, ‘The World’s Favourite Airline.” Now, Maurice Saatchi and Tim Duffy had to work the magic once again and convince British Airways executives to award the prestigious account to this untested agency. One British Airways executive attending the meeting at No. 60 Kingly Street that April day was Sir Colin Marshall, the airline’s chairman, who had twice written in support of Maurice Saatchi.

Other British Airways executives in attendance that day were Robert Ayling, the forty-nine-year-old group managing director and heir apparent to Sir Colin; Derek Dear, general manager, marketing communications; and Val Gooding, general manager, business units. The Australian airline Qantas, of which British Airways owns 25 percent, was also represented at the pitch by Geoff Dixon, managing director, and Ken Ryan, a marketing executive. Unknown publicly at the time was the weight of Qantas’s opinion over an agency selection.

After Maurice Saatchi resigned in January 1995, Peter McLaughlin, a Qantas marketing executive, called Bill Muirhead, the former chief executive of Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising North America, who had resigned shortly after Maurice’s departure, and asked, “Who is going to look after us?” When British Airways decided to speak with other advertising agencies about the account, Qantas followed.

Accompanying Maurice Saatchi and Tim Duffy was Maurice Levy, chairman of Publicis SA, a French advertising group. Maurice Saatchi had allied himself with Levy in order to handle British Airways’ demanding worldwide media buying and planning operations. At the opening of the presentation, Saatchi referred to himself as “Maurice the Brain” and to Levy as “Maurice the Mechanic,” alluding to Levy’s money and ad agency network.

Maurice Saatchi was unmistakable in his oversize tortoise-shell eyeglasses. Uncharacteristically, he wasn’t wearing the jacket to his dark Comme des Garçons suit. He welcomed everyone and assured them the presentation would last only two hours. Maurice is tall and thin and usually has a cat-swallowing-the-canary grin. His face, while framed by the large eyeglasses, is also punctuated by thin lips. In one-on-one conversations he speaks softly so that the listener is forced to strain and pay close attention to what is being said.

The British Airways contingency was to see four ad agency finalists that spring day—Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising on Charlotte Street, Bartle Bogle Hegarty, a well-respected creative hot-shop on Great Pulteney Street in London’s Soho district, The New Saatchi Agency, and J. Walter Thompson on Berkeley Square. Of the four, Bartle Bogle was considered New Saatchi’s major competition: it created eye-catching ads for Levi’s, Audi, NatWest Bank, and Sony. Saatchi & Saatchi was said to have virtually no chance to retain the business. New Saatchi was considered a favorite because of the close association between Maurice Saatchi and Sir Colin.

“We have entitled the presentation Encore,” Maurice began, speaking slowly and deliberately, looking at each person in the room eye-to-eye. “An encore is when you have a pleasant experience and want more. But do you want the same song or a new song? … Do you want to say, ‘Jolly good show. Well done everybody. It’s obviously worked. We need more of the same,’ or do you want to say, ‘Jolly good show. Well done everybody. It’s obviously worked but the world has changed and we need something different’?” Maurice Saatchi and Tim Duffy were there to assure British Airways that New Saatchi wasn’t going to sing the same old tune.

Duffy laid out the problems facing British Airways: “It’s difficult to disentangle one airline from another. Our challenge is to ensure British Airways can sustain a premium in the new world of leisure.” A solution, continued Duffy, is to “break the rules again. Harness the ‘masterbrand’ of business and leisure.”

After a while, Maurice Saatchi turned to a device that had worked effectively for him in the past: surprise guest stars, albeit on videotape. Playing off the slogan ‘The World’s Favourite Airline,” Saatchi promised British Airways that if it signed with The New Saatchi Agency, it would be aligned with the world’s favorite media deal maker, Rupert Murdoch, chairman of News Corp.; the world’s favorite composer, Andrew Lloyd Webber, who said he would write the airline’s new jingle; the world’s favorite airport, Gatwick, outside London and operated by British Airports Authority; the world’s favorite lottery, represented by Victor Markowitz, chairman of G-Tech, which operated 75 percent of the world’s lottery games. For a presentation of the world’s favorite employees, Maurice Saatchi secured the services of former Monty Python player John Cleese, who personified the stiff-upper-lip British character. On video, Cleese performed a moderately amusing bit about motivating the British Airways troops.

After Maurice Levy made a somewhat stilted and rambling presentation about how the British Airways account would be serviced by Publicis around the world, the group was treated to a videotape showing three former Saatchi & Saatchi executives, wearing suits and ties, not laboring in an ad agency, but relaxing in a rambling garden. The joke was immediately clear to everyone in the room. On the tape were Jeremy Sinclair, forty-eight years old, former acting chairman of Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC; Bill Muirhead, forty-eight, former chief executive officer of Saatchi & Saatchi North America; and David Kershaw, forty, former chairman of Saatchi & Saatchi’s U.K. operation.

The three had resigned January 9, 1995, six days after Maurice Saatchi had officially left the company, to join him in his new venture. Combined, the three executives were with Saatchi & Saatchi for more than sixty years and their loyalty to Maurice Saatchi was unquestioned. The three amigos, as they quickly became known, were still under contract to Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC and couldn’t work for anyone else until complex legal wrangles were sorted out. In London, the three were on what is known as Garden Leave. They planned to join Maurice Saatchi as equal partners with Charles Saatchi at The New Saatchi Agency as soon as it became legally possible. Until then, at full salary, the three set up shop off fashionable Regent Street in a tiny office nicknamed the Garden Shed and the Potting Shed, sometimes even known as the Plotting Shed. They were forbidden to speak to Maurice Saatchi about the business or anyone connected with his new agency, which, of course, was ludicrous, and which went basically unmonitored. Hence the tongue-in-cheek video; intercut with footage of the three executives loafing among the flowers with classical music in the background were worker bees at The New Saatchi Agency frantically setting about their nerve-wracking work to the accompaniment of Dolly Parton’s hit tune “9 to 5.”

What followed the tape was vintage Maurice Saatchi, an Elmer Gantry act that was to disarm and charm the gathering. “I must have woken up every morning for the last few weeks wondering what to say to you at this stage of the proceedings,” he began, clearing his throat in the same affected, staged way Woody Allen has perfected. “I decided that it boils down to only two things. Firstly, we owe you an apology. Because if it weren’t for certain events on our side we would not be taking this time out…. We owe you an apology. The second thing is you owe us nothing. Whatever happens today, we will always be grateful for what we’ve done together. And I want you to know that there will always be a group of people in the world, mainly this group, who are on your side.

“Now you’ve got to choose a new partner for the next stage of your growth. I haven’t known or observed a better business relationship than we’ve had over the years…. Any agency will give you the right requirements…. The only question is what more you’re going to get. I hope you would not expect me to let you out today without giving you some compelling reasons for appointing us. And I will try to spell out six.”

Using the video wall again, Saatchi began to list the reasons: Experience—“We have spent fourteen thousand hours” in British Airways’ London offices since Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising became the agency, Saatchi reminded them; New—‘Through some miraculous divine intervention, all these experienced hands find themselves in a new young and fresh setting,” he went on; Creative; Organised—“We are ready to go,” Saatchi assured British Airways; Rational; Emotional—“We are not cold, calculated machines.” The letters then formed the word “Encore.”

The presentation concluded with a British Airways design icon—a red line below the word “Encore.” As the line was drawn, it was accompanied by the sound of an airliner taking off, the same sound effect that ends each British Airways television and radio ad.

Executives from British Airways and Qantas left and then the torturous waiting began. British Airways was a must-win for The New Saatchi Agency; without it, the budding venture would never escape boutique status.

The next day, April 26, Duffy was awakened at 9 A.M. by a call from Derek Dear, British Airways’ general manager, marketing communications, someone with whom Duffy had a close relationship. Without betraying any indication as to how the other agencies had performed in their presentations, Dear told Duffy that he needed to see him immediately and alone. “It’s urgent,” Dear said. Dear said someone else from British Airways would come: Mervyn Walker, director of purchasing. Duffy delicately suggested they meet for lunch at Maurice Saatchi’s posh mews house on Bruton Place, off Berkeley Square.

The issue that brought the two sides together again was money: The New Saatchi Agency was charging a lot. “We were expensive,” Duffy said, “but that’s because we knew how much it cost to run the business.”

After Dear and Gooding left, Saatchi and Duffy were joined by Maurice’s wife, Josephine Hart. “We said this is absolute torture,” Duffy said. The decision was expected by the end of the week. By April 29, nothing happened.

Meanwhile, Bill Muirhead, an immensely likable Australian native who had been part of Maurice and Charles Saatchi’s inner circle since 1972 and who, more than anyone other than Maurice, gambled his future by walking out of Saatchi & Saatchi, was finding the waiting hard. He didn’t shave; he took to wearing a T-shirt with the saying “Losing Is Not an Option.” He never cleaned it. He called everyone for gossip, for a sign that he wasn’t foolish to resign, as his wife, Jeanne, had privately believed. Unlike the others, Muirhead spent what he made, had no stock in the company and very little, if any, savings.

Monday, May 1, came and went. Then, on May 2, while Maurice was in his green Toyota Camry on the way to lunch, his mobile phone rang. It was Robert Ayling asking to see him at 3:30 in the airline’s Berkeley Square office.

Duffy heard of the meeting on his cellular phone while having a beer at Ye Grapes, a pub in Shepherd’s Market. On his way back to the office, he ran into Muirhead and Kershaw, who were imbibing beer from cans. At 4:15, when no one on Davies Street had heard from Maurice—the meeting at British Airways had concluded by then—Duffy called Josephine Hart a few blocks away on Bruton Place. She hadn’t heard from her husband, either.

At 5:30, without any hint of what was to come, Maurice Saatchi returned to 35 Davies Street. He asked the staff to gather for a meeting. Speaking slowly and theatrically, he said, “British Airways has awarded its entire business to” (long pause) “us.”

Pandemonium swept the place. The three amigos and others guzzled warm Champagne. The first outsider through the door was Andrew Lloyd Webber. Charles Saatchi, keeping in character, was nowhere to be found.

Maurice Saatchi failed to provide an important detail of the meeting with British Airways, however. “It was a tight competition,” Ayling had told Saatchi.

Maurice Saatchi later learned how tight. Several British Airways executives had wanted Bartle Bogle to be awarded the assignment. Saatchi & Saatchi had been eliminated quickly because the airlines thought the agency’s strategy was adrift. “Is this the same group of people who have been working on the account for ten years?” one Qantas executive said to a British Airways official after the Saatchi & Saatchi pitch. J. Walter Thompson wasn’t considered exciting enough from a creative standpoint. Bartle Bogle’s flaw was that it wanted everything to originate from London and resisted opening satellite offices. That was unacceptable to Qantas, which drafted a letter to Ayling asking him to consider the situation rationally.

On Davies Street, no one was paying attention to one line in the British Airways press release: “The contract has been awarded to New Saatchi for one year.” That was unusual. When companies select an ad agency, contracts are never publicly mentioned. Agencies can get fired on a moment’s notice for no reason whatsoever. The belief was that British Airways was putting its new agency on the tight leash of a twelve-month tryout.

The party continued at the Atlantic Bar & Grill. Eventually, Maurice Saatchi slipped away from the festivities and went home for a quiet dinner with his son, Edward, and stepson, Adam. British Airways was his now and Maurice Saatchi wouldn’t rest until his former company was on its knees. He had little regard for any senior executive left at Saatchi & Saatchi; they were spineless toadies who carried out the orders of David Herro, a snotty upstart from Chicago, of all places. With British Airways under his belt, with Jeremy Sinclair, Bill Muirhead, David Kershaw, Tim Duffy, and other defectors from Old Co., Maurice Saatchi was ready to strike. Maurice Saatchi had the British press in his corner; through the years, he and Charles Saatchi spent hours charming reporters and selectively leaking headline stories. Charles Scott, Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC’s acting chairman and chief executive officer, was an accountant, someone more comfortable with a balance sheet than a storyboard. Certainly, he was no match for the Saatchi publicity machine.

•  •  •

FEW WOULD ESCAPE Saatchi & Saatchi vs. Saatchi & Saatchi unscathed. Reputations would be ruined, huge sums of money would be spent on legal maneuvers, and an unpleasant odor would engulf both camps. Advertising is an industry that sells image. Odd, then, that both sides would publicly torture each other to such an extent that the images of both Saatchi & Saatchi Company PLC and The New Saatchi Agency would be sullied. Rival agencies would cringe at the level of discord. It was harming the entire advertising industry: “I wish these people would go away and let us do business,” said Martin Puris, chairman, chief executive officer, and chief creative officer at Interpublic Group’s Ammirati Puris Lintas, an agency respected for its creative output. “They’ve done more harm than we’ve managed to do in the last hundred years. Industry critics who say the advertising business is flaky and catastrophe is around the corner will say, ‘Aha!’ ”

What is clear is that Saatchi & Saatchi and The New Saatchi Agency vastly underestimated each other: Maurice Saatchi misread the depth of resentment bubbling in David Herro, the stockholder. And Herro, Charles Scott, and countless Saatchi & Saatchi executives—with one notable exception—failed to heed warning signs that Maurice Saatchi wouldn’t leave quietly.

More than anything, the creation and crash of Saatchi & Saatchi—Maurice Saatchi and the advertising agency holding company—underscored the delicate nature of the advertising industry. Advertising is a business built entirely on the smoke and mirrors of individual reputations, personal salesmanship, and the charisma of those involved. Basically, there is no difference between the itinerant patent medicine salesman of the nineteenth century and the smart-looking advertising salesman in the late twentieth century. Both weave a spell and tell a tale.

Advertising is an industry in which the amount of money to be made rivals the fortunes made by the investment banker robber barons. Indeed, one man, Charles Saatchi, made so much money in advertising that he was able to control the world’s contemporary art market. In advertising, there is no genius beyond the genius to invent yourself. Of course, one must remember that if you can reinvent yourself today, someone—perhaps a David Herro—can reinvent you tomorrow. But then, if you are as clever and diabolical as Maurice Saatchi, you can then turn around and invent yourself a second time.



CHAPTER


ONE

MAURICE AND CHARLES SAATCHI are Iraqi Jews born in Baghdad. Their father was Nathan Saatchi. “Sa’aatchi” translated from Arabic means “watchmaker” or “watch dealer,” although Nathan Saatchi was a successful textile merchant. Like many of his peers, Nathan used a matchmaker in order to meet a wife. He was told to walk past a certain house at a certain time and a girl, Daisy Ezer, would be standing there. Daisy had been educated at the Alliance School for Girls, which was sponsored by the French government, and had a middle-class background. When they married in 1936, Nathan was twenty-nine and Daisy was seventeen. One year later, David, the first of four sons, was born in Baghdad. Eventually, David would settle in New York, become a successful commodities broker, and eventually live in the fashionable summer resort of the Hamptons on eastern Long Island as a sculptor. Charles Nathan Saatchi was born June 9, 1943, and Maurice Nathan Saatchi on June 21, 1946, both born in Baghdad like their older brother. The fourth and youngest brother, Philip, would be born in London in June 1953. He would become a singer and songwriter.

Although their parents spoke Hebrew and Arabic, the Saatchi children were ordered to speak only English at home. Nathan was an elder of the Sephardic and Portuguese Synagogue on Lauderdale Road in Hampstead. Maurice Saatchi remembers his upbringing in a “very religious home” but “all the four sons have lost their religion, which is a pity.”

In 1947, after purchasing two textile mills in north London, Nathan Saatchi moved his family to London, settling into a house in Ossulton Way, in an upscale neighborhood near the Hampstead Golf Club. Eventually the family would settle into a house with eight bedrooms on Hampstead Lane in Highgate, one of London’s most expensive areas. As it turned out, Nathan and Daisy Saatchi left Iraq just ahead of a massive exodus; within a few years, 120,000 Jews fled Iraq, leaving only 15,000 behind. The Jerusalem Post reported in 1986 that “No other exodus in Jewish history, except the exodus from Egypt, was comparable in terms of its drama and spontaneity to the story of the Iraqi Jews.” Shortly after the end of World War II, the attitude of Jews in Iraq fundamentally changed. There were reductions of the number of Jews in civil services. Also, restrictions were placed on the teaching of Hebrew. Contact with Palestine was forbidden. Jews were forced to include Muslims as business partners. Zionism, the government in Iraq said, was “poisoning the atmosphere.” Then, Jews were prohibited from purchasing land. Any Jew leaving the country had to deposit a guarantee of £1,500 and Jews were no longer accepted into government schools.

After a shaky start, Nathan Saatchi, mainly through contacts in the Middle East, established a successful textile business in London. At twenty-seven, David, his oldest son, finally succumbed and joined the family business, which he hated. In 1967, he joined the Israeli army to fight in the Six-Day War. The war was over before David actually had a chance to join the combat, but it accomplished one goal: he got away from his father. From Israel he went to the United States, where he was still living in 1996.

Charles Saatchi attended Christ College, Finchley, before giving up at age seventeen. Charles was a handsome young man who sported a mop of long dark curly hair before the mop top was made fashionable by the Beatles in 1963. Like his siblings, he was tall, over six feet, and towered over his father. Like his older brother, he did not excel in school. As a child and later as an adult Charles Saatchi adored playing board games, such as Scrabble and chess. Even when he was president of Saatchi & Saatchi, Charles spent part of some days with his office door closed as he and several pals, including Michael Green, a childhood friend who is now chairman of Carlton Communications in the United Kingdom, pored over a game.

Charles’s career had false starts. When he left school, there was a period when he did little more than party and ride around London on a motorcycle in leather attire. He spent a year in the United States simply seeing the country and doing little else but observing the popular culture, including advertising. He devoured television and popular culture and he had an insatiable appetite for sports cars. But when it came to a profession, Charles Saatchi was adrift. He tried college again, this time to study design, though it was a short-lived attempt. It was not until Charles was twenty-two that he landed a job that finally seemed to interest him.

In 1965, he was hired as a junior copywriter in the London office of the giant United States advertising agency Benton & Bowles. Even though he quickly earned a reputation as a talented copywriter, Charles was not placed on any first-tier accounts; he was too young and considered a junior member of the agency. But after only two and a half months, Charles would meet someone who would have great influence on his professional life: Ross Cramer, twenty-seven, senior art director at Benton & Bowles. The two met one day when Saatchi stood behind Cramer while at his drawing board. “I like that,” Saatchi told Cramer of the piece he was working on. They hit it off and Saatchi quickly asked to be paired with Cramer.

While at Benton & Bowles, Charles Saatchi would become attracted to Doris Lockhart Dibley, a copy group head. Tall, blond, and decidedly cool, Doris Dibley, the daughter of a Memphis newspaper editor, could have been cast as the heroine in an Alfred Hitchcock movie. Smitten as Saatchi was, there was little he could do; Dibley, seven years older than Charles, was a newlywed, married to a racing car driver named Hugh Dibley.

Ultimately, Benton & Bowles was not the place for the talented pair of Saatchi and Cramer. Some agencies nurture creativity; others want advertising that takes no chances. Benton & Bowles fell into the latter category. So Saatchi and Cramer resigned and joined Collett Dickenson Pearce, a fledgling agency with a reputation for creative excellence. Already at Collett Dickenson were future film producer David Puttnam, whose credits would include Chariots of Fire, and future film director Alan Parker, whose credits would include the 1996 film version of Evita, starring Madonna.

It was at Collett Dickenson Pearce that Charles Saatchi soared as a copywriter. He let his hair grow, connecting to the Swinging London of Freddie and the Dreamers, the Rolling Stones, and Herman’s Hermits. It was here he honed a love of cars, driving around London in a Lincoln Continental. He also owned a Jaguar, a Mercedes-Benz, and a Ferrari.

Charles Saatchi continued his partnership with Ross Cramer and in 1967 won an award for advertisements produced for Self-ridge’s, the London department store. One said, “A warning to the under 12s. Be on your guard when your parents volunteer a trip to Selfridge’s toy department. It could be a bribe to get you inside our barber shop.” Another read, “The most valuable things shoplifters get off with in Selfridge’s are the girls at the cosmetic counter.”

The duo also worked on the Ford account. It was here that Charles Saatchi made his first significant contribution to British advertising. The year he had spent in the United States paid off for Charles Saatchi with the Ford assignment. He was a fan of American advertising in which a company could show a rival’s product in a commercial or in a print ad. The rules of Britain’s Institute of Practitioners of Advertising forbid the practice, which in the United Kingdom was known as “knocking copy.” For the Ford Executive model, Charles Saatchi and Ross Cramer produced an ad that showed a Jaguar, a Rover, and a Mercedes. The headline read, “The Ford Executive compares quite favorably with these grand cars.” Another ad said, “With some 2 liter cars you pay for the name. Ford only charges you for the car.”

Despite their success, Saatchi and Cramer left Collett Dickenson in 1967, briefly working at John Collins & Partners, a small agency. Partly because of size and partly because of internal politics, Saatchi and Cramer departed after only six months, this time deciding they had had enough of working for others. Why not simply open a consultancy that would be hired on a project-by-project basis by anyone who cared to tap into their creative juices?

CramerSaatchi opened on Goodge Street in 1967. It was a small but potent agency; in addition to Saatchi and Cramer, there was John Hegarty, whom the pair met at Benton & Bowles and who later joined them at John Collins & Partners.

There was also Jeremy Sinclair, a literate bald-headed man with gentle eyes who speaks in a whisper while chain-smoking Cuban cigars. Sinclair was born in London on November 4, 1946, went to school in Scotland, and eventually settled in Paris when his father, a management consultant, relocated there. At an outdoor book kiosk along the Seine in 1966 Sinclair by chance picked up the book Confessions of an Advertising Man by David Ogilvy, co-founder of the great advertising agency Ogilvy & Mather. Ogilvy hit hard the theme of building brands, that consumers would purchase more expensive items if they were drawn to a well-executed marketing plan. Kellogg’s cereal, for instance, costs more than so-called private label brands, yet Kellogg’s generally outsells brands such as President’s Choice. Advertising is a major factor.

At the time, Sinclair was twenty-one, unmarried and intrigued by the advertising profession. He purchased a copy of The (London) Times and wrote to Watford Art College, which was advertising a course in copywriting. Having sent the letter, Sinclair then left for Algeria for a few months. Upon his return to Paris, he found two letters from Watford. One contained an examination for admittance, another was a note inquiring why the school hadn’t received the exam; nevertheless, he was invited for an interview. He borrowed the plane fare to London from his mother, completing the exam on the flight. He was accepted.

While in school, Sinclair worked nights shifting scenery on weekends at a local theater. Armed with his portfolio from school, Sinclair made the rounds of various London agencies. One person who saw him, Dan Levine, a copywriter at Collett Dickenson Pearce, telephoned his old friend Charles Saatchi. Charles liked what he saw. The applicant’s assignment was to do a first-person ad, and Sinclair chose Ayds, a weight-reduction product. Sinclair’s was the only whimsical ad submitted; the headline in Sinclair’s was, “Two men offered me their seats on the bus. I needed them both.”

Charles offered Sinclair, who had graduated from school by this time, a job at £10 a week. Sinclair, recalling in 1995 accepting the offer, said, “I took one look at Charles and said, ‘Yeah, he’ll do.’ ”

One of the ads CramerSaatchi devised was for the launch of Cosmopolitan magazine in the United Kingdom. The agency proposed a commercial showing a couple on a lovely vacation. “Where did you get the idea of coming here for the holidays?” the man asked the woman. The answer: “Cosmopolitan, Page 42.” The next scene showed a couple in bed. The man said, “I don’t believe it. Where did you get the idea of doing that?” The reply: “Cosmopolitan, Page 144.”

The self-regulating British ad industry objected. Sinclair negotiated. “Could you show a couple in bed?” he asked. “Yes, if they’re married,” came the answer. “But you can’t have the man asking the question.” So the ad ran with only the woman saying, “Cosmopolitan, Page 144.” “You didn’t need to ask the question,” Sinclair said. “You knew what was being asked. The government had infinitely improved the script.” Sinclair liked to boast that the commercial was written before he ever saw a copy of the magazine.

Such eye-catching ads in the rather staid world of advertising in the United Kingdom resulted in publicity not only for the client but for CramerSaatchi as well.

The consultancy business was not limited to advertising. It also flirted with the film industry by writing scripts. Charles Saatchi and David Puttnam developed a script about an eleven-year-old girl who ran off with her boyfriend to get married. Originally called Melody, it was changed to SWALK, or Sealed with a Loving Kiss. Alan Parker wrote the actual script and the film was made but quickly disappeared.

CramerSaatchi continued to do well in advertising with three-quarters of the top twenty agencies hiring the consultancy. In early 1970, CramerSaatchi broke its own rule and took on a client directly instead of being the conduit between the advertising agency and the client. In this instance, the client was the Health Education Council, and it came to CramerSaatchi through Ross Cramer. He knew a woman who worked for the HEC because their children attended the same school. It was the same time that the Royal College of Surgeons released a detailed report linking cigarette smoking and cancer. There was pressure on the Labour party to drive down the sales of tobacco products and the assignment was given to the HEC, which turned to CramerSaatchi for help.

It did not matter that Charles Saatchi smoked with enthusiasm. He relished the assignment. One ad was produced that showed a liquid tar being poured into a glass saucer. The caption read: “No wonder smokers cough.” Below that the line read, ‘The tar and discharge that collects in the lungs of the average smoker.” The ads generated even more publicity for the consulting firm.

Then came the pregnant man ad, one of the most memorable in London advertising history. Jeremy Sinclair thought one morning that it might be more effective to show a man appealing for help because of a pregnancy instead of the woman. A pregnant woman, after all, is wholly predictable. Sinclair then wrote the line that would accompany the ad: “Would you be more careful if it was you that got pregnant?”

Saatchi endorsed Sinclair’s advertisement. The HEC, which normally followed a conservative approach to its advertisements, also blessed Sinclair’s efforts. Within weeks, it was the most discussed ad in London, and soon after Time magazine published it, giving it international exposure.

While Charles Saatchi was firmly established, Maurice Saatchi began to emerge professionally as well. Maurice was less outgoing than Charles but a far superior student; at Tollington Grammar, he consistently made the honor roll. He transferred to the London School of Economics in 1964. Maurice felt he could have been a top-flight cricket player; he was the star number three bat on the team, but he was struck in the head during a game and had to be carried off the field. He graduated with first-class honors in 1967.

Maurice’s job choice would have great ramifications for the brothers for years to come. Maurice Saatchi wound up at Haymarket Publications, which owned several periodicals, including World Press News and Campaign, a weekly magazine that in 1996 remained the leading advertising trade journal in the United Kingdom. Haymarket was controlled by Michael Heseltine, who, in 1995, was Deputy Prime Minister to John Major, and Lindsay Masters.

It was Masters who offered Maurice his first job as his junior assistant. Before accepting, Maurice asked, What is the salary? Masters was taken aback. Salaries generally weren’t discussed, much less negotiated by recent graduates. One thousand pounds a year was the standard and Maurice would receive the standard. Maurice politely declined the offer, saying he had considerable expenses, including a Stingray, a fancy sports car. Masters inquired as to what Maurice would need. Two thousand pounds, came the swift reply. He was hired.

Maurice would make many acquaintances at Haymarket, including that of a colleague in the classified advertising department, Josephine Hart. Hart would remain with Haymarket for fifteen years and become a board member. She would also marry Paul Buckley, a Haymarket director who also began his career as a personal assistant to Masters.

Maurice Saatchi remained with Haymarket for three years, working closely with Masters; the two became involved with the launch of Accountancy Age and Maurice sold advertising space for the magazine.

Haymarket was on the prowl to purchase established magazines and no one was a better observer of the attempts than Maurice Saatchi. He would study Heseltine’s technique of writing to virtually every publishing house offering to buy their magazines. Hundreds of letters were sent annually. Heseltine believed that if Haymarket managed to snare two magazines each year, that was fine.

Although Charles and Maurice Saatchi were established professionally and in their mid-twenties, they continued to live at home with their parents. Such an arrangement enabled the two brothers to engage in detailed discussions about their respective businesses. Charles was justifiably impressed with Maurice’s ability to digest and analyze sophisticated business plans.

When Charles hatched the idea of forming a new ad agency, Ross Cramer’s reaction was surprising. He opted to bow out of the plans in order to pursue his ambition of directing feature films. That never happened; instead, Cramer became a well-regarded director of commercials, a profession he enjoys in 1996.

So in May 1970 Charles Saatchi told his employees in a rapid-fire speech that the consultancy was evolving into a full-fledged advertising agency, that more people would be hired, that Ross Cramer was leaving, and that his replacement would be Maurice Saatchi.

The announcement wasn’t well received; Maurice had never worked at an ad agency. But that’s all right, Charles said of his brother; what Maurice lacked in ad skills he more than made up for in financial depth.

It would be a partnership fraught with tension. Charles Saatchi would never let his younger brother know exactly his place in the family. Charles would throw things at Maurice in fits of pique.

“Charles would panic if there was a problem,” said Martin Sorrell, a former Saatchi & Saatchi financial executive. “He had tremendous fear.”

Once, a clairvoyant told Charles, “By the time you’re twenty-five, you will be down and out.”

On the day Saatchi & Saatchi won the highly sought-after British Airways account in September 1982, Sorrell was sitting in Maurice’s office relishing the victory. Charles joined them and Maurice said, “Isn’t it wonderful?”

“Can you imagine what’s going to happen when we lose it?” Charles responded.

Charles would often recite to Maurice what came to be known in the executive suite as the gutter speech. “But for me, Maurice, where would you be?” Charles said. “You’d be in the gutter somewhere.”

Charles and Maurice did share one vexing trait: impatience.

•  •  •

IN MAY 1970, when Charles Saatchi announced to the staff of CramerSaatchi that the consultancy would become an advertising agency, the brothers already had held private discussions among themselves as to what the name of the new enterprise should be. Quickly, Charles Saatchi decided upon Saatchi & Saatchi. “It’s a bloody good name,” he said. “No one will forget it because it is so bizarre.” Actually, Charles Saatchi was not convinced of the acceptability of the Saatchi moniker in the advertising marketplace. But he concluded that it was the name they were stuck with. “Let’s make it an asset,” he said.

Charles also decided the company had outgrown its offices on Goodge Street. After a brief search, the brothers were shown office space at No. 6 Golden Square in the city’s Soho district. It was a beautiful square near the bustle of Piccadilly Circus. No. 6 was one of the most elegant buildings in the square with carved stone pillars. The Saatchis rented the ground floor and basement. The agency was designed with an emphasis on open space; employees scurried about and a high sense of energy invaded the place. Some CramerSaatchi-produced advertisements were hung like posters, which was unusual in London ad agencies at the time, although it became an accepted practice a few years later. There was a spiral staircase leading to the basement, which housed a projection room and a conference room.

Other than the HEC, a second client was the Citrus Marketing Board of Israel, which sold its oranges and lemons around the world under the name Jaffa. It wanted to launch a major marketing effort in Britain in order to take advantage of the boycott of oranges from South Africa. The ad produced included the line “And the Lord saith: let there be oranges …” It ended with the line “Jaffa: the Chosen Fruit.” Ultimately, the ad was not used because the client deemed it “anti-Jewish.” Yet the client liked the irreverence and kept the agency.

By the end of the summer of 1970, Charles and Maurice Saatchi had attracted a staff and they wanted to officially launch their new advertising agency.

•  •  •

ON SUNDAY, September 13, 1970, a full-page ad appeared on page seven of the Sunday Times of London. The headline: “Why I think it’s time for a new kind of advertising.” The ad was trumpeting the arrival of a new agency: Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising. The ad said that a campaign “only succeeds if it ultimately helps create new sales for a client, and does so efficiently and economically.” But advertising didn’t accomplish this; rather, its objective was to improve a company’s image or brand awareness: “Images and brand awareness are meaningless, if they fail to achieve greater turnover; the test is cash in the till.” Account executives, the ad said, are “the middle-man between the advertiser and the people who are paid to create the ads.”

One person who read the ad was Bill Muirhead, who resembles in appearance and manner the brash and attractive Paul Hogan character in Crocodile Dundee. At the time, Muirhead was working at Ogilvy & Mather in London, and it was while eating a sandwich in a park that he happened upon the ad. “I was an ambitious account executive just starting out,” he said. “And I’m reading that I may soon be, or should be, obsolete.”

Indeed, the ad promised that the account executive would be eliminated at Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising; the position would be replaced with a “co-ordinator who is not briefed by the client, does not brief the creative people, does not pass judgment on ads, and does not present ads to the clients, but works with the creators as a day-to-day administrator.”

As with many facets of the Saatchis, this was pure boast. Within six months, Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising would hire six account executives. The reason was simple: copywriters and art directors are ill-equipped to deal with clients in the way the Saatchis wanted them to. Creative individuals didn’t want to coddle clients. They just wanted to create ads.

The ad also contained a proposal meant to startle the advertising industry: Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising would not seek a 15 percent compensation on billings, the traditional industry standard. The Saatchis described it as a “dying system,” so they would charge clients 22 percent.

The compensation formula traces its roots to 1841, when Volney B. Palmer opened an agency in Philadelphia that represented newspapers wishing to sell space to out-of-town advertisers. There were over five thousand newspapers in the United States, all with different circulations and ad rates. Placing the ads in each newspaper was a laborious task. In exchange for doing this service, Palmer charged the newspapers 25 percent of their space rate, plus costs of postage and stationery.

By 1849, he not only had offices in New York, Philadelphia, Boston, and Baltimore, but he had competition as well.

Until the 1990s, here was how the advertising media buying game worked: if an agency placed an ad and it cost $10,000, it demanded and received a 15 percent discount, meaning it cost $8,500 to place it. However, the agency still charged the client $10,000; it pocketed the $1,500. The agency had an interest in looking for the highest possible rate. (The 15 percent compensation is no longer a given; rather, the rate is negotiated.)

In exchange for the higher fee, Saatchi & Saatchi promised clients “the cheapest possible buying of space and time.” That proposal, too, was soon and quietly abandoned.

Maurice and Charles Saatchi spent £6,000 on the ad in the Sunday Times, which was written by Robert Heller, an editor of Management Today and columnist of the Observer in London. Although he boasted that it was the easiest assignment he had ever received, Heller got cold feet as the ad got closer to publication. He didn’t want his name associated with it. After all, he was an editor, and here he was endorsing a new agency. So, at the last minute, he asked that his name be withdrawn. It was replaced by the name of Jeremy Sinclair, a creative executive with the new agency.

•  •  •

CHARLES WAS twenty-seven and Maurice twenty-five when they registered Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising in August 1970. The new agency was financed with approximately £100,000, including £1,000 of ordinary shares and £9,000 of preference capital, which was to be repaid within three years. Among the backers of the new agency was the designer Mary Quant, who made the miniskirt fashionable. Quant and her husband, Alexander Plunket-Greene, became involved through their friendship with Lindsay Masters. Quant agreed but on one odd condition: that Masters too would invest in Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising. This was dicey since Masters was a part owner of Campaign magazine, which reported on the advertising business.

But Masters did invest, and for years Campaign, an excellent publication with an eye-catching layout and interesting, snappy writing, was labeled, usually with envy, as Charles Saatchi’s house organ. Newly hired editors would routinely receive cases of Champagne from Saatchi & Saatchi. And Charles would spend a great deal of time on the phone with Campaign editors planting the next positive story about Saatchi & Saatchi.

And why not? Advertising agencies are unusually adept at conveying the positive attributes of a client. They traditionally fall short in promoting themselves. But Charles Saatchi mastered the art of the telephone call. Yes, he could be portrayed as shy, elusive, and unavailable. But the truth was quite the opposite. He knew how to craft an image for himself and for the agency. Certainly reporters covering the advertising business in London didn’t think of Charles as aloof and shy.

At Campaign, the calls from Charles would start on Monday and continue until deadline time; the publication now hits newsstands on Thursday, though then it was published on Fridays.

Charles Saatchi hit upon an obvious but unique idea: to brand an advertising agency in the way a company tries to brand a product. In the same way Sony made televisions, General Motors made automobiles, and McKinsey was a brand name for consulting, Saatchi & Saatchi would be equated with great advertising.

Cannon Holdings (which held the Masters, Quant and Plunket-Greene investment) had 15 percent of the working shares. The rest were divided among four working directors: Charles, 42 percent; Maurice, 38 percent; John Hegarty, 2.5 percent; and Tim Bell, 2.5 percent.

Tim Bell, a tall, handsome, charming individual, was hired as media director on September 12, 1970, from Geers Gross, a new London agency. Bell was born and raised in London by his Australian mother and her second husband, an alderman and mayor of Marylebone. Bell wanted to be a jazz musician, but his mother disapproved. At nineteen, he was sent to Stella Fisher Employment Agency on Fleet Street, the famous London thoroughfare that was once home to many of the city’s newspapers. He worked for several years for ABC Television performing the unglamorous job of a paper pusher in the advertising department. From there he went to Colman, Pretis & Varley, then to Hobson Bates, both ad agencies, and finally to Geers Gross.

When Charles Saatchi decided the agency needed a media director, an individual who bought space and time from newspapers and television stations, he approached two executives in the corporate world, one from Campbell Soup and the other from H. J. Heinz, and was rebuffed twice. It seemed no one wanted to work for two young Iraqi Jewish brothers with a strange name, even though one, Charles, had a reputation for creative excellence. When still other candidates fell through, Bell was mentioned as one of the best media specialists in the city.

“Charlie rang me up and said, ‘I understand you’re the best and would you like to come join us?’ ” Bell said. “He was quite irresistible.” Bell, mistakenly, thought Charles had written the pregnant man ad, which he considered the best ad ever produced. So he was already a fan.

Charles would run the creative department, Maurice would handle the clients, and Bell would be media director. He was twenty-eight. There were three copywriters, three art directors, Charles, Maurice, and Bell.

“Because I was there at the beginning,” Bell said, “I emerged into doing everything. I was the new business man, client handler department, production department, research department, and media buying department.”

Bell would also become the so-called third brother, worshipping Charles and Maurice until he was tossed aside in a particularly messy professional public divorce that would take years to heal. By the end, he would refer to himself as the ampersand in Saatchi & Saatchi.

•  •  •

SAATCHI & SAATCHI ADVERTISING at No. 6 Golden Square officially opened for business on September 14, 1970, one day after the full-page ad describing the agency ran in the Sunday Times. But the news was out before the Times ad; on September 11, Campaign’s lead story carried the headline, “Saatchi Starts Agency with One Million Pounds.” As was custom among advertising agencies, the Saatchis overstated their billings; they were nowhere near one million pounds. Charles was described as the “copywriting partner of the highly respected CramerSaatchi creative consultancy.” Maurice appeared in the fourth paragraph as “marketing the agency.” The Campaign article also said the company was backed by “a City financial group plus considerable investment from the elder brother.” (The City is the financial community in London. In reality, there was not a single “City financial group” involved.)

The agency began humming along. Maurice Saatchi would hone his charm on potential clients. His pitch would go along these lines: “Hello, my name is Maurice Saatchi and we have a new advertising agency. Although you are probably very happy with your present advertising agency, I think we have found a way for you to make more money and sell more products.” When the chief executive of the company asked for specifics, Maurice would say only to stop around the agency to view a presentation.

Once again, Saatchi & Saatchi was breaking the rules. It was heretofore considered taboo to approach another agency’s clients. Traditionally, agencies wait to be invited to pitch the account by the client or a headhunting firm. But Maurice Saatchi believed rules simply didn’t apply to him. He never had. It was a curious, if not infuriating, characteristic. Wendy Smyth, Saatchi & Saatchi’s tough-as-nails finance director, described Maurice as “the lovable puppy who comes in and craps all over the carpet and then licks your hand.”

Disregarding the conventional way of doing business was working for Maurice Saatchi in 1970; those cold calls to potential clients didn’t result in instant business, but they accomplished a significant goal: they got executives into the agency for a face-to-face presentation and the agency received top-of-mind recognition. If an account came up for review, then, more than likely, Saatchi & Saatchi would be asked in to the pitch.

One of the first ads produced by Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising was for the Health Education Council, the same client for which the pregnant man ad was created. Again, Jeremy Sinclair created the television commercial: lemmings jumping off a cliff intercut with people walking across Waterloo Bridge in London. The voice-over said, “There’s a strange Arctic rodent called the lemming which every year throws itself off a cliff. It’s as though they want to die. Every year in Britain thousands of men and women smoke cigarettes. It’s as though they want to die.” The ads got the much needed publicity and the client roster grew to include British Leyland, the automobile manufacturer, and Associated Newspapers, publishers of the Daily Mail, among others.

Saatchi & Saatchi was in the news a great deal, a fact credited to Charles’s keen intuitive dealings with reporters. A journalist covering a specific beat likes to feel he is the most important individual to the executives he is covering. Charles Saatchi had the knack for instilling that feeling. But the attention and stories that became part of the Saatchi legend gnawed at the agency’s employees. “We were out to make great and memorable ads,” said Jeremy Sinclair. “We didn’t care about all the stories.”

The tales included Charles throwing a chair at Maurice out of frustration that Maurice was not grasping a point quickly enough. After heaving the chair, Charles shouted, “I can’t believe we came from the same womb.” Often, Charles would hit his brother, causing Maurice to bleed.

Add to this equation the fact that Saatchi & Saatchi Advertising fundamentally was a mean place to work.

Nasty, petty comments were made by senior Saatchi & Saatchi executives (interestingly, Charles and Maurice were not involved) about virtually everyone at the agency. Everybody had what Bill Muirhead described as a “foul nickname.” Some were original, others not. Maurice Saatchi, for instance, was called “Four Eyes.” Charles Saatchi was Carlos, “the Jackal,” named after the infamous assassin who was finally to be caught in the Middle East in 1995. John Hegarty was known as the “Anorexic Albino.” Tim Bell was nicknamed “Tom Bell” because that is how he once was referred to by a client.

Jeremy Sinclair was called “Red Fire Engine.” Sinclair would teach once a week at the School of Economic Science. Colleagues imagined the class repeating a chant and the agency executives cruelly imagined Sinclair and others sitting in a corner chanting “Red fire engine, red fire engine” over and over until an inner peace was achieved. The exact reason why the employees chose to ridicule Sinclair by referring to a fire engine has been lost over the decades. Roy Warman, who joined in January 1971 from Geers Gross to be Bell’s number two on the media side, was called “Swamp.” And Bill Muirhead was known simply as “Blockhead.”

“It was a very competitive environment,” Muirhead said. “It was so bad that if you woke up with a pimple, you didn’t dare go to work that day. You called in sick because you were so scared you would be made fun of.”

Early in 1972, Muirhead resigned from Ogilvy & Mather to join Dorland Advertising. On his third day on the job, Muirhead received a call from Maurice Saatchi. “Why don’t you come work for us?” Maurice inquired. The brothers, looking to expand their agency and, finally, realizing they needed a bona fide account executive, had heard terrific things about Muirhead.

“I didn’t see how I could considering I had been at Dorland for only three days, but I was fascinated,” Muirhead said. And so he went off to No. 6 Golden Square and was immediately impressed with the surroundings and hectic atmosphere. While waiting in the reception area to be summoned by Maurice, Muirhead noticed a man peering over the partition and staring at him. The individual never identified himself. He just glared for a time and then disappeared. Muirhead later learned that it was Charles Saatchi. Since the name Saatchi & Saatchi was on an impressive brass nameplate outside the Golden Square offices, Muirhead incorrectly believed the agency rented the entire building, a belief no one at Saatchi & Saatchi tried to correct.

The agency had other assets Muirhead and others in the all-male club admired: two beautiful secretaries who made the waiting room all the more appealing. One female wore see-through tops and another, recalled a senior executive, “looked as if she didn’t wear any knickers.”

Muirhead was impressed with what he saw and decided to take the plunge. He had found Maurice charming and was also struck by Bell’s marketing skills. He joined and began working on his first account, the Daily Mail.

•  •  •

SAATCHI & SAATCHI ADVERTISING was immediately profitable. In its second year, it had profits of £90,000, after expenses, salaries, and taxes. In 1973, its third year, profits rose 11 percent to £100,000.

By then the brothers also had acquired domestic lives. Charles married Doris Dibley. He had continued to be smitten by this sophisticated woman who spoke several languages and knew a great deal about art and wine. She was graduated from Smith College and spent a year at the Sorbonne in Paris. Shortly after Charles left Benton & Bowles, he returned for an office Christmas party in 1967. Dibley’s marriage was in trouble but she rebuffed an overture to date Charles. That changed shortly after she separated from her husband, and she and Charles lived together for six years before finally getting married in 1973. Doris would introduce Charles to the art world, which would become and remain one of his greatest passions.

At first, Charles had not been enthusiastic about getting married. Annoyed, Doris went off to Paris. Charles, unsure whether she traveled with another man or not, enlisted Jeremy Sinclair to phone her in Paris. “We haven’t seen Charlie in about a week and we were wondering whether or not he was with you,” Sinclair said in a game of bluff he would do for only the closest of friends.

Doris was sufficiently worried to place a call to Charles. Shortly after, she returned and he proposed.

A year earlier, in 1972, Maurice Saatchi married Gillian Osband, a children’s book editor and writer who was the daughter of a wealthy north London property executive. The couple had known each other since childhood.

Their circle of friends included Paul Buckley, a Haymarket director who began as an assistant to Michael Heseltine, and Buckley’s wife, Josephine Hart.

•  •  •

IT WAS IN 1973 that the Saatchi brothers began to make acquisitions. The reason was simple. Maurice Saatchi had a single, audacious ambition: to be the largest advertising agency company in the world. He had little choice in how to achieve his goal: Saatchi & Saatchi had to begin acquiring companies. Eventually, the company came to be nicknamed Snatchit & Snatchit. Maurice’s approach to rival advertising agencies and other related companies mirrored the way Michael Heseltine of Haymarket solicited competing publication companies to investigate whether there were magazines for sale.

Maurice would begin each letter the same way: “I am sure this will be the last thing on your minds, but I wondered if you felt it would make sense to dispose of your company.” In 1973, Charles Saatchi leaked a story to Campaign that Saatchi & Saatchi would soon buy an agency in the United States. Nothing happened. Then Campaign dutifully printed another Charles Saatchi–delivered story: that the agency would create a subsidiary in Paris. Again, nothing materialized, although the buzz had its desired effect: Saatchi & Saatchi was an agency with large global plans. Saatchi & Saatchi did make its first acquisition in 1972, of a property company called Brogan Developers. This purchase was used to house Charles Saatchi’s growing art collection. In 1973, Saatchi & Saatchi made another acquisition: E.G. Dawes, a Manchester ad agency. The brothers merged Dawes with its own Manchester office, which it had established to serve a client, Great Clewes Warehouse, a unit of Great Universal Stores. Saatchi & Saatchi also acquired Notley Advertising, which practically doubled the agency’s size. Because of the sudden influx of newly acquired employees, Saatchi & Saatchi in 1973 moved to Lower Regent Street from Golden Square.

Another acquisition during the period wasn’t as successful. The brothers purchased George J. Smith, a small London agency, for £90,000. But the money the company said it was owed by outsiders, it turned out, was greatly exaggerated. George J. Smith was virtually bankrupt.

After getting more business out of existing clients—a smart strategy in order to weather an advertising industry recession—Saatchi & Saatchi recorded profits in 1975 of £400,000. This was accomplished despite the fact that the agency had lost one of its key clients, Singer, the sewing machine company. The expanded assignments were the main reason.

In the early days, virtually all of the unsolicited offers were rebuffed, including one to Boase Massimi Pollitt, a successful agency that didn’t feel the need to sell to these upstarts.

The Boase Massimi rejection aside, that was soon to change.



CHAPTER


TWO

S.T. GARLAND ADVERTISING, opened in 1928 by Sidney Garland, a former Daily Mail sales rep, was independent until 1960 when Compton Advertising in New York decided it wanted a major presence in the United Kingdom. Compton in the United States first forged the relationship with S.T. Garland Advertising in 1960 because Procter & Gamble, Compton’s largest client, wanted to expand into the United Kingdom. Compton was under orders from Procter & Gamble to open an office in the United Kingdom prior to the time when the giant packaged good manufacturer would begin selling its products, said Milton Gossett, then-president of Compton. Compton purchased 49 percent of the Garland agency with an option for another 2 percent, allowing Compton Advertising to control a new company called Compton U.K. Partners that owned 100 percent of Garland-Compton.

Garland-Compton had offices on Charlotte Street and a strong client base, starting with Procter & Gamble, the world’s largest advertiser, and later adding Rowntree Mackintosh and United Biscuits. Saatchi & Saatchi became involved with Garland-Compton in 1975. Maurice Saatchi, on the prowl for a business manager, approached Ron Rimmer, Garland-Compton’s managing director. Rimmer had no intention of leaving, but informed Ken Gill, Garland’s president, of the inquiry. What neither Rimmer nor Maurice knew was that Gill, according to Milton Gossett, was “desperate in looking for someone who could follow himself.” Gill wanted someone who could add pizzazz to the somewhat stodgy agency. After some consideration, he figured this relatively new agency named Saatchi & Saatchi might contain just the spark of creativity that his agency needed.

This time, Gill contacted the Saatchi brothers and negotiations began. To help solicit support for the deal, which was bound to be complex because it was a reverse takeover—in which the smaller company essentially took over the larger entity—Gill phoned Gossett, an old friend, and asked about the possibility of acquiring Saatchi & Saatchi. Gill wanted Gossett to come to London to meet the two brothers.

“Ken was in love with them,” Gossett said. “And I quickly grew fond of them. I love rascals and rogues and I saw them as out of the mold and different.”

That was praise coming from Milton Gossett. A soft-spoken, dignified man, Gossett joined Compton as a secretary in 1949 after ignoring the recommendations of an aptitude examination that said he would have a future either as a newspaper reporter or as a park ranger. He rose through the ranks of Compton, from traffic manager to copywriter to head of the copy department; he later became president and then chief operating officer, chief executive, and chairman.

Although Gossett enjoyed the brothers, Stu Mitchell, Compton’s then-chairman, did not. Their meeting lasted only a matter of minutes. ‘The brothers and Stu, who was a straightforward kind of person, took one look at one another, and all Stu saw were these emotional brothers and all they saw was this straitlaced executive, and the brothers and he both said no way,” Gossett said. But after hearing pleas from Gossett as to how powerful the creative work of Saatchi & Saatchi was, Mitchell reconsidered and the talks resumed.

Gill also asked one other close associate to look at the deal: James Gulliver, an investor and takeover artist who owned his own firm as well as about 10 percent of Compton shares. He, in turn, gave the assignment to one of his associates, Martin Sorrell.

Sorrell, a short, intense man with a mischievous streak, is the son of a businessman who operated England’s largest retail consumer electronics chain. Sorrell grew up well in north London’s Jewish business community. He studied economics at Cambridge and wrote for New Cambridge, the university’s alternative journal, instead of Varsity, the mainstream publication. Sorrell covered the 1964 Democratic National Convention in Atlantic City for New Cambridge. He described himself as a frustrated journalist and, indeed, he was at ease with reporters and relished advertising industry gossip. Sorrell attended Harvard Business School and chose not to join the family business upon graduation. Instead, he remained in New England, settling upon a marketing consultancy in Connecticut. He returned to England five years later and joined Gulliver.

When Gulliver mentioned to Sorrell he ought to take a look at Saatchi & Saatchi, Sorrell recalled seeing the company’s name on Regent Street and thought it was a Japanese hi-fi company.

By the end of 1975, a deal was struck. The brothers would sell their business to Compton for shares. They would own 36 percent of the combined equity of the enlarged group; Compton in New York would own 26 percent after the reverse takeover, down from 49 percent; the balance of the shares were held by public shareholders.

There was one non-negotiable point: the name Saatchi & Saatchi couldn’t be eliminated. Although Gill and Gossett resisted, they eventually caved in and the merged agency with the unwieldy name Saatchi & Saatchi Garland-Compton was created. Of course, the brothers knew what they were doing in that positioning. No one, including newspaper headline writers, would consistently say or write out that lengthy name; instead, they would, and did, shorten it to Saatchi & Saatchi.

Gill and Gossett wanted the announcement to be of a merger, not an acquisition, but that was not to be with the Saatchi brothers orchestrating the behind-the-scenes nuances of the news. Campaign magazine set the tone with its headline in September 1975, “Saatchi Swallows Up the Compton Group.” Charles Saatchi’s close relationship with the respected publication had paid off once again. The headline had a devastating psychological effect on Garland-Compton. Although the beginning was rocky, the relationship between the two agencies actually worked out quite well. “It was a good marriage,” said Milton Gossett.

The merger was hardly noticed in the United States mainstream press; the New York Times issue of September 26, 1975, for instance, included it as a minuscule addendum to a large Advertising column on Chevrolet’s new 1976 Chevette. “Saatchi & Saatchi & Co., a British ad agency, has agreed to merge with Compton Partners, the holding company of the Compton group of ad agencies in the United Kingdom. When that happens the holding company will change its name to Saatchi & Saatchi Compton and the group to Saatchi & Saatchi Garland-Compton with billings over $70 million.” The writer added: “With that kind of scratch, why not change your name?”

With the Garland-Compton deal, Saatchi & Saatchi rose to the fifth largest agency from number thirteen. More important, Compton U.K. Partners had a public listing. The brothers would use the stock market to propel their acquisition binge. Saatchi & Saatchi also gained three international clients: Rowntree, United Biscuits, and Procter & Gamble. But the celebration didn’t go on for long. All three companies told their “new” agency that it was being put on notice: Rowntree gave a three-week deadline and United Biscuits and Procter & Gamble gave six months each. That meant Saatchi & Saatchi had to pitch the accounts again and rewin the business. Remarkably, it did.

Ken Gill was the managing director and those executives who worked at the combined agencies remembered Gill as a father figure to the Saatchi brothers. Like children, Maurice and Charles delighted in teasing Gill, but they usually wound up listening to him, several recalled.

Milton Gossett, meanwhile, grew close to Maurice Saatchi. Gossett introduced Maurice to executives at Procter & Gamble, where he would establish relations that would figure heavily twenty years later. Maurice Saatchi stayed with Gossett and his wife and the couple would often visit Maurice’s London home where they would admire his large toy collection and where they shared a common interest in horticulture. (Gossett’s family owns a nursery in South Salem, New York, named Gossett Brothers.)

If Garland-Compton lost one critical aspect of the skirmish, they won another: Saatchi & Saatchi had to move into Garland-Compton headquarters on Charlotte Street. When they did, it was not only to top offices, but to senior positions as well. Tim Bell became managing director of the merged agencies. Ron Rimmer, the person who served as a catalyst between the two companies, left shortly after the merger for McCann-Erickson. Jeremy Sinclair became creative director, and Roy Warman, media director.

Saatchi & Saatchi Compton Ltd.’s annual report for the year ended September 30, 1976, speaks to the company’s accomplishments and its frustrations: page 10 was titled “Some of the Year’s Success Stories,” and showed stills of several major campaigns. The clients included British Leyland (“the first time saturation TV was used in a sales promotion for British cars—widely considered to be the most effective sales drive seen in the motor industry in recent years”), Schweppes (the campaign convinced consumers to imbibe tonic water straight), Brutus Jeans (the jingle the agency created went to number two on London’s hit parade and Brutus “went to brand leadership”), and Gillette-Braun (“introduced in February 1975, the Braun electric shaver had reached the number two position in the dry shaver market just one year later”).

In the Chairman’s Statement, Kenneth Gill said that only one client, Bass, moved its account because of a conflict based on the merger (Harp’s new lager). The combined agencies gained more business from a large number of existing clients. “This performance,” Gill wrote, “made Saatchi & Saatchi Garland-Compton the fastest growing of Britain’s top ten agencies in 1976.”

The report also included a headline, “How We Run Our Agency as a Quoted Company.” It said: “We are often asked whether the fact that our Company is quoted makes a difference to the way we run our advertising agency business. The answer is—hardly at all. As a Quoted Company we run our business as any business should be—in business-like fashion…. We write a financial plan, we monitor achievement against that plan and we try to signal trouble ahead—with a large flag!”

The report also included a fact that Saatchi & Saatchi uncovered and wanted to exploit: Britain’s largest agency, J. Walter Thompson, had clients that had been with it for years—Kellogg’s, Gillette, and Kodak were with the agency for thirty-nine, eleven, and thirteen years, respectively. Procter & Gamble and Rowntree Mackintosh “between them have been our clients for over 60 years! These stable relationships have meant increasingly secure and stable agencies at the top of British Advertising.

“As more and more sectors of the economy have come to see advertising as a major force in their business, this has meant that large agencies have become more and more broadly spread in terms of their sources of income, and increasingly less dependent on any one sector of the economy.” Television advertising, the company said, no longer relied on detergent and food as the major contributor. Many new categories emerged, including records, films, cars, and financial institutions.

However, the Saatchi brothers were bothered that, despite the relative youth of their agency, it still had less than 5 percent of the total British advertising market.

•  •  •

IN 1978, THE BROTHERS’ flashy style attracted another client, who would further propel the reputation of Saatchi & Saatchi as being on the cutting edge of creativity. The client was Margaret Thatcher, the Conservative party’s candidate for Prime Minister in Britain’s upcoming general election. The Conservative party faced an uphill battle in trying to wrest control from the ruling Labour party. But Gordon Reece, the Conservatives’ newly appointed director of communications, had the unorthodox idea of hiring an advertising agency to devise a colorful and hard-hitting campaign that would take shots at the Labour opposition. Prior to 1978, the political parties in the United Kingdom did not select ad agencies to head up their campaigns; rather, they relied on pro bono work from volunteers.

Reece was a television producer and, until contacted by Thatcher, was advising Armand Hammer of Occidental Oil on publicity. Having spent time in America and having seen hard-sell techniques used in some American advertising—the majority of British ads remained tame despite Saatchi & Saatchi’s efforts—Reece believed the brothers’ agency could give the Conservative party a jump start. The take-no-prisoners approach to political advertising, especially in the campaigns of Presidents Lyndon B. Johnson and Richard M. Nixon, had not gone unnoticed by Reece.

Reece had definite criteria for what he wanted in the ad agency for the Conservative party. It had to be big, yet hungry, with strengths on the creative side.

Reece recalled working with Charles Saatchi briefly in the 1960s on a commercial for the Daily Mail newspaper. He also knew the reputation of Tim Bell and Jeremy Sinclair. Although Reece had been scheduled to meet Charles Saatchi on Charlotte Street, when he arrived, the selectively elusive and shy Charles wasn’t around; Reece would have to settle for the less flashy, but equally impressive Maurice.

Tim Bell, on vacation in Barbados, spoke with Charles Saatchi and urged him not to take on such a time-consuming and high-profile client. But Bell’s opinion wasn’t even considered. In fact, when he returned to Charlotte Street, the brothers handed Bell the assignment.

Bell became deeply involved in the campaign and to this day he includes Margaret Thatcher among his closest friends. He became Sir Tim Bell after she knighted him in 1991. And with this campaign, Bell and the agency became trailblazers in British political advertising. Reece got what he wanted: an entire campaign that spoke not to issues but to voters’ emotions.

The first ad came in the spring of 1978. Saatchi & Saatchi ran a teaser ad in the tabloid newspapers warning that if the public missed an ad that would run at 9 P.M. that evening, they would regret it forever. Again, Jeremy Sinclair was the chief creative force behind the commercial, which showed everything in Britain going backward, including people walking backward across Waterloo Bridge. The voice-over announcer said, “This country was once the finest nation on earth. We are famous for our freedom, justice, and fair play. Our inventions brought the world out of the Middle Ages to industrial prosperity. Today we are famous for discouraging people from getting to the top. Famous for not rewarding skill, talent, and effort. In a word, Britain is going backwards. Backwards or forwards because we can’t go on as we are. Don’t just hope for a better life—vote for one.”

The ad didn’t go unnoticed by the public, nor by the Conservatives’ opposition. A memo dated April 4, 1978, written by Edward Booth-Clibborn, the Labour party’s adviser on political advertising, and sent to party leader James Callaghan, said, “Saatchi & Saatchi are not only London’s fastest-growing and most successful agency in financial terms, they are also a force to be reckoned with in the execution of the work they undertake.”

That summer, a copywriter named Andy Rutherford submitted a billboard for the agency to consider showing to Thatcher. His assignment was to focus on the economy and industry. Unemployment was on the rise, so Rutherford designed a poster that showed a large, seemingly never-ending line outside an unemployment office. The headline: “Labour Isn’t Working.” Under the snakelike line, Rutherford had written, “Britain’s Better Off with the Conservatives.” That slogan echoed a 1959 slogan, “Life’s better with the Conservatives.”

Although Saatchi & Saatchi executives weren’t enthralled by the ad, Thatcher loved it. The billboard received a huge amount of publicity, becoming as famous as the pregnant man ad, although it appeared in only about twenty sites.

There were other billboards as well: one with the headline “Britain Isn’t Getting Any Better” was illustrated with a line outside a hospital. Another, in a child’s scrawl, said, “Educashun Isnt Wurking.”

On May 3, 1979, Thatcher and the Conservative party won, defeating Labour by a 5.2 percent margin. In 1995, Maurice Saatchi would credit Margaret Thatcher as the catalyst in establishing Saatchi & Saatchi in the world. ‘The victory in 1979 was the basis of our expansion, particularly in the U.S. Mrs. Thatcher was respected in America and she made us.” A victory party was held at 10 Downing Street and virtually everyone who worked on the campaign attended, including Maurice Saatchi, Jeremy Sinclair, and Tim Bell. Charles Saatchi, as was his custom, chose to stay away.

The campaign would be the height of Tim Bell’s profile with Saatchi & Saatchi. And he would revel in his role at Charlotte Street.

But there was something wrong. Tim Bell’s office was in the belly of the agency on Charlotte Street on the first floor. The brothers and Martin Sorrell were on the sixth floor. That was where the power resided. Maurice and Charles had enticed Sorrell to join in 1976 by giving him a 20 percent stake in a subsidiary called Saatchi & Saatchi Developments. “I was to build Saatchi & Saatchi horizontally to other areas,” Sorrell said. ‘The charter for the development unit was to take them outside advertising. But it never happened. I was a bit conned by them because I don’t think the brothers ever had any intention of allowing me to do it.” Nevertheless, some properties were considered, including a small British publishing company.
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